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PREFACE

This is the story of a conservative judicial revolution that failed. It was led by the chief justice of the United States, William H. Rehnquist, and actively encouraged by two conservative Republican presidents, Ronald Reagan and George Bush. They hoped to reverse the liberal legacy of the Warren Court and its successor, the Burger Court, which had given the broadest scope in the nation’s history to the civil rights and civil liberties protections of the Bill of Rights and the Fourteenth Amendment. With five Court appointments, and an aggressive litigation strategy developed by their Justice Department attorneys, Reagan and Bush had good reason to think they would succeed.

The numbers alone strongly suggested that the Supreme Court of the United States of the late 1980s and early ’90s would take a radical turn to the right in all crucial areas of civil rights and liberties. By 1988, after the confirmation of Reagan’s third appointee, Anthony M. Kennedy, Chief Justice Rehnquist operated with a working conservative majority: Rehnquist himself, the three Reagan appointees—Sandra Day O’Connor, Antonin E. Scalia, and Kennedy—and Byron R. White, a conservative holdover from the Warren and Burger Courts. Bush’s appointments of David H. Souter and Clarence Thomas put the finishing touches on what conservatives inside, and outside, the Administration expected to be a solid majority that would steer the Court safely to the right into the next century.

But predicting the Court’s direction has always been a hazardous business. In part, this is because the life-tenured justices often find a voice independent of their presidential sponsors once they are securely ensconced on the Court. That independence is encouraged by the Court’s internal decision-making process itself, which is the central focus of this book. A justice’s firm vote in private conference may change as a result of a colleague’s argument put forward in conversation, internal memorandum or draft opinion. That happened many times in the cases discussed in this book. In most instances, the center held largely because liberal justices were able to attract support from their more moderate brethren who refused to join the ideologically committed conservatives on the right wing of the Court.

The cases discussed in this book reveal the justices’ intense internal struggles during some of the most critical moments of the Rehnquist Court. They were selected in four crucial areas of civil rights and civil liberties—racial discrimination, abortion, criminal law and First Amendment freedoms. The book is not meant to be a definitive study of the Rehnquist Court. Instead, it focuses on key decisions that, to a significant degree, have determined the Court’s philosophical direction. In most, but not all, of the cases, there is a clear-cut confrontation between the old liberal order and the emerging conservative majority. Although the cases are divided by topic into separate sections, the justices’ deliberations take place concurrently over the same time period, primarily from the Court’s October 1986 term, the first in which Rehnquist presided as chief justice, through the October 1991 term, the first in which Clarence Thomas sat on the Court.

Part One is devoted to a single case, in which a black woman, Brenda Patterson, charged that she had been harassed and ultimately fired from her job because of her race. The Court’s conservatives, led by Chief Justice Rehnquist, not only rejected Patterson’s racial harassment claim, but threatened to overturn two key civil rights precedents of the Warren and Burger Court eras that had provided broad legal remedies for racial minorities. The Patterson case, then, represented a threshold opportunity for the conservatives to take the Court in an entirely new constitutional direction in the civil rights field.

Part Two begins with the most controversial decision of the modern Court era, Roe v. Wade, and the efforts of the conservatives on the Rehnquist Court to overrule it. The issue was furiously joined by Roe’s author, Harry A. Blackmun, but was ultimately decided by three appointees of Reagan and Bush: Kennedy, O’Connor and Souter. Their secret collaboration, unknown to any of their colleagues, produced a joint opinion in the 1992 case of Planned Parenthood of Southeastern Pennsylvania v. Casey, which preserved Roe—and stunned Rehnquist and Scalia.

In Part Three, Justice Thurgood Marshall pleads for the life of a death row inmate, Warren McCleskey, whose case came before the Rehnquist Court three times between 1986 and 1991. This part, which follows the conservative turn of the Court in criminal cases, also reveals the private deliberations and many changes in the positions of the justices in the case of convicted murderer Oreste Fulminante. Fulminante’s case raised serious constitutional issues about the admissibility of a coerced confession into evidence and gave the chief justice his long-awaited chance to overturn a venerable Court doctrine mandating the reversal of any conviction in which a coerced confession had been introduced at trial.

Part Four focuses on First Amendment issues in which the Reagan and Bush Administrations made a major effort to convert their political successes into constitutional victories. Both Reagan and Bush had encouraged the increased use of religious symbols and traditions in public life; their Justice Department attorneys, in turn, attempted to persuade the Court to abandon an important series of modern Court precedents that drew a clear constitutional line between church and state. As occurred in the Casey decision, the three conservative centrists—Kennedy, O’Connor and Souter—clung to the center and frustrated the plans of the chief justice and his colleagues, Scalia and Thomas. The other First Amendment cases covered in the section deal with the emotional issue of whether the Constitution’s protection of speech extends to flag-burning, which was defended as symbolic political expression. President Bush, who had made patriotism a major issue in his 1988 presidential campaign, offered his view, backed by a proposed constitutional amendment—flag-burning should be punished. But the justices did not take positions as predictable on the issue as did the president.

Leading the conservative charge in all of the cases was Chief Justice Rehnquist, who was appointed to the Court by President Richard M. Nixon in 1971 and quickly earned the reputation as the most outspoken conservative on the Court in more than a quarter of a century. As associate justice and later as chief justice, he consistently supported government regulations of individual liberties and rejected the civil rights claims of racial minorities.

His most reliable supporter among pre-Reagan appointees was Byron White, who had been named to the Court by President John F. Kennedy in 1962. White owed his appointment, in part, to his effectiveness as Robert Kennedy’s deputy attorney general in enforcing the nation’s civil rights laws with stern, understated authority. On the Court, White retained his sternness but little of the Kennedy Administration’s liberal spirit. Instead, he wrote sharp dissents to many of the Warren and Burger Courts’ most expansive libertarian decisions.

President Reagan’s first appointee, Sandra Day O’Connor, had been a law school classmate of Rehnquist’s at Stanford. Although not as rigidly conservative in her ideology as Rehnquist, O’Connor frequently supported government regulation of civil liberties, was openly critical of Roe v. Wade and opposed liberal interpretations of federal laws and the Fourteenth Amendment that provided broad legal remedies to racial minorities.

Antonin Scalia, appointed to the Court by Reagan the same day in 1986 that Rehnquist was elevated to the chief justiceship, championed a strong conservative ideology that matched well with Rehnquist’s. With supreme confidence in his ability to defend his views, Scalia was eager to take on all comers in the privacy of the justices’ conferences, in open court and in his uncompromising judicial opinions.

The Reagan Administration was confident that it had provided Chief Justice Rehnquist with the crucial fifth vote for his conservative majority with the appointment of Judge Anthony Kennedy of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. Kennedy’s name had surfaced after the bruising, unsuccessful confirmation fight over Judge Robert Bork. Although he was no ideologue, Kennedy exhibited a steady, cautious conservative record as a federal appeals judge.

The challenge to the Court’s diminishing liberal wing after Kennedy’s confirmation was daunting. But led by one of the modern Supreme Court’s most influential liberals,I Justice William J. Brennan, Jr., it was by no means a lost cause. Through the 1970s and most of the ’80s, Brennan had, improbably, continued to mold and preserve majorities for his expansive constitutional vision of civil rights and liberties on an increasingly conservative Court.

Steadfastly supporting Brennan was the Court’s first African-American, Thurgood Marshall. A legendary civil rights attorney before his Court appointment by President Lyndon B. Johnson in 1967, Marshall continued to argue on the Court that the justices were obligated to provide broad constitutional protections to racial and other minorities in American society.

The third member of what became the liberal opposition to the Rehnquist Court’s conservatives was Harry Blackmun. Appointed by President Nixon in 1970, Blackmun came to the Court with a fine legal reputation as a trusts and estates attorney in his native Minnesota and later as a moderately conservative judge on the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit. But Blackmun shocked the nation, and his sponsors, by writing the Court’s opinion in Roe v. Wade. After Roe, Blackmun gradually shifted to the liberal side of the Court; by 1994, his last year on the Court, Blackmun frequently articulated the most liberal position of any justice on a wide range of civil rights and liberties issues.

The final member of the group opposing the Rehnquist Court conservatives, John Paul Stevens, had confounded a media eager to place the justices into neatly defined categories since his appointment by President Gerald R. Ford in 1975. Stevens’s approach to constitutional law defied judicial labels. But the more assertive conservatives on the Rehnquist Court became, the more Stevens reacted with his own spirited opinions, usually aligned with those of his liberal colleagues.

After Brennan’s retirement in 1990 and Marshall’s a year later, President Bush appeared to solidify the conservative majority with two appointments. Little was known about his first appointee, David Souter, who had toiled quietly on the trial and state appellate courts in New Hampshire. The same could not be said for Bush’s second appointee, Clarence Thomas, whose aggressively conservative political pronouncements while chairman of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission in the 1980s had endeared him to both Reagan and Bush.

Three other justices are important to this story. The first is Justice William O. Douglas, appointed to the Court by President Franklin D. Roosevelt in 1939, whose lobbying among his colleagues during their deliberations in Roe v. Wade influenced the outcome. Finally, Justices Ruth Bader Ginsburg and Stephen G. Breyer, named to the Court by President Bill Clinton, became the first appointees by a Democratic president in a quarter century, interrupting a succession of ten Republican-appointed justices. Although it is too early to predict exactly where Ginsburg and Breyer will fit in ideologically, their prior records of moderation as federal appeals court judges virtually assure the denouement of the conservatives’ revolution.

What follows is an in-depth account of the justices on the Rehnquist Court as they fight for majorities in the privacy of their conference room and in their chambers, in their confidential internal memoranda, notes and letters, and in unpublished draft opinions. It is not always a tidy process, nor do the individual justices always act wisely or with good humor. But the justices’ intensity as they argue—sometimes diplomatically, other times with bare-knuckled determination—underscores the importance of their work. For the outcome of their struggles, as they well knew, would profoundly affect the future of the Court and the nation.

I. The term “liberal” is used to describe a justice who gives the political branches a wide latitude to effect social and economic reform while insisting that those political branches do not interfere with individual rights. Conceding the deficiencies in such one-word descriptions of judicial philosophies, Chief Justice Rehnquist, nonetheless, distinguished “liberal” from “conservative” in describing the justices of the Court in the early 1950s this way: “[Justice] Black was regarded as a member of the Court’s ‘liberal’ wing—a wing that conceded to the government great authority under the Constitution to regulate economic matters, but which sharply circumscribed that power when it was pitted against claims of individual rights. The ‘conservative’ wing, on the other hand, was inclined to sustain governmental action pretty much across the board.”






PART I RACE


What the Court declines to snatch with one hand, it steals with the other…. The Court’s fine phrases about our commitment to the eradication of racial discrimination seem to count for little in practice. When it comes to deciding whether a civil rights statute should be construed to further that commitment, the fine phrases disappear, replaced by a formalistic method of interpretation antithetical to Congress’ vision of a society in which contractual opportunities are equal.

From the unpublished dissent of

JUSTICE WILLIAM J. BRENNAN, JR.,

in Patterson v. McLean Credit Union (1989)






CHAPTER ONE A DREAM DESTROYED


The case of Brenda Patterson, a black woman who charged that she had been harassed and subsequently fired from her job with a North Carolina credit union because of her race, was argued before the Rehnquist Court in February 1988 and reargued eight months later. The fact that the justices selected the case for oral argument in the first place, from more than five thousand petitions, suggests that Brenda Patterson had raised an important legal question that the Court wanted to resolve. After reading the thick legal briefs from the opposing sides in the case and hearing a full hour’s oral argument, the justices requested a second set of briefs and arguments.

As is true of most important decisions of the Supreme Court of the United States, the case of Patterson v. McLean Credit Union began quietly, when Brenda Patterson went to a lawyer after she was dismissed from her clerical job at the McLean Credit Union in Winston-Salem, North Carolina. Patterson told attorney Harvey Kennedy that her white supervisor had continually harassed her during her ten-year employment at the credit union, had given her demeaning tasks (dusting, for example) not assigned to white workers, and had denied her training and promotion opportunities that were offered to white employees with Patterson’s skills.

Kennedy brought a lawsuit on behalf of Patterson against the credit union in federal district court in North Carolina, charging racial harassment, failure to promote and, finally, the illegal discharge of Brenda Patterson in violation of the nation’s first civil rights statute, the Civil Rights Act of 1866. That post—Civil War statute gave blacks the same rights “to make and enforce contracts… as is enjoyed by white citizens.”

There were several pragmatic reasons for Harvey Kennedy to bring the Patterson suit under the 1866 law rather than Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. Procedurally, the older statute offered Patterson advantages, including a jury trial. Most importantly, the 1866 law provided Patterson with a substantially greater monetary remedy; she could sue the McLean Credit Union for back pay beyond the two-year limitation of Title VII as well as for punitive damages, which were barred by the 1964 statute.

The federal district court judge rejected Patterson’s argument that racial harassment could be the basis for a claim under the 1866 statute, and a jury then ruled against Patterson on her promotion and discharge claims. Patterson later lost her appeal in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, setting the stage for the first Supreme Court argument on February 29, 1988.

Two months after the Court first heard arguments in the Patterson case, a narrow Court majority made up of its five most conservative members (Rehnquist, White, O’Connor, Scalia and Kennedy) created panic among civil rights attorneys by requesting reargument in Patterson to focus on the issue of whether a critical twelve-year-old civil rights precedent, Runyon v. McCrary, should be overruled. Runyon had held that the 1866 civil rights statute applied to racial discrimination by a private employer as well as to official acts of racial discrimination by state governments. If the Court’s conservatives carried through on their threat to reverse Runyon, private employment discrimination could be cut off from the statute’s coverage.

The Rehnquist Court announcement was perceived by the civil rights community as not only a threat to Brenda Patterson’s case, which was bad enough, but to one of the foundation decisions in civil rights in which the Warren and Burger Courts had provided broad legal protection for racial minorities over three decades. Most of the amicus curiae (friend of the court) legal briefs filed by interested parties that flooded into the justices’ chambers during the summer of 1988—not just from civil rights organizations, but also from Reconstruction-era historians, constitutional scholars, congressmen and state attorneys general—urged the Court to preserve Runyon.

When the justices heard the second argument in Patterson on October 12, 1988, the case was already being heralded by the media as the most important of the term. Patterson not only presented an unusual claim of racial harassment in the workplace, but, more broadly, offered the Rehnquist Court its first serious opportunity to chart a new course in civil rights law.

The tension among observers and lawyers in the courtroom was palpable during the second Patterson oral argument, and that tension later carried over to the justices, who fought over the resolution of the Patterson case for the next eight months. For Patterson presented the Court’s conservatives with the chance to exploit their majority and pursue a very different civil rights path from the one that had been taken by the Court for more than three decades. Civil rights progress during that period was often measured by decisions of the modern Supreme Court, which had become the crucial American institution in the civil rights revolution, inspiring, nurturing and finally demanding the elimination of racial discrimination in the United States.

Many of those civil rights decisions had been written by the Court’s liberal leader, Justice William Brennan. But with the Patterson challenge, it appeared that the Court’s leadership, and Brennan’s, might be relegated to no more than a historic relic. By the late 1980s, the nation’s political mood had turned decidedly more conservative, and so had the Supreme Court, led by Chief Justice Rehnquist. The struggle within the Court over Patterson, therefore, assumed large political, as well as judicial, overtones. If the chief justice succeeded in achieving his conservative goals, the Court would no longer offer the broad-based legal remedies that had been crucial to modern civil rights reform.



In 1972, the year that Brenda Patterson was hired by the McLean Credit Union, her new job had been a cause of celebration for Brenda and her husband, Marshall Patterson. Marshall then worked as a driver for the United Parcel Service in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, and Brenda had come home with the exciting news that she had just been offered the position of accounting clerk by McLean. The second income was important to the Pattersons, but working for the credit union of the McLean Trucking Company was a source of particular pride to Brenda. She and her husband had often driven by the McLean building on Waughtown Street in Winston-Salem, and Brenda had told Marshall that she wanted to work there someday.

A graduate of Winston-Salem State University and a former parttime elementary school teacher, Brenda Patterson accepted the job as an accounting clerk with the expectation that she would advance to more interesting and lucrative positions within the company. One of only ten general employees, Brenda was confident that she would make a satisfying career at McLean. “It was a happy time for her,” Marshall Patterson remembered, “because a dream had come true.”

When she was hired, Brenda Patterson was the only black working at the credit union. At her initial interview with her supervisor, Robert Stevenson, she had been warned that she “was going to be working with all white women… and that probably they wouldn’t like me because they weren’t used to working with blacks.” Stevenson himself had had no experience working with blacks.

After only a few months at McLean, Brenda Patterson’s initial joy dissipated. With increasing regularity, she came home to tell her husband that her supervisor was piling work on her but not on his white employees. She also told Marshall that her supervisor would stare at her for several minutes at a time, and this made her nervous and unable to concentrate on her work. Brenda said that she was singled out for criticism in staff meetings while white employees were criticized in private.

It seemed to Brenda Patterson that she was regularly asked to help white clerical workers but that nobody helped her. Patterson noticed that she alone among McLean’s credit union employees was asked to sweep and dust the office. After she complained about the amount of work she was given, Brenda was told by Robert Stevenson that “blacks are known to work slower than whites by nature.” Later she remembered that Stevenson made the same point by telling her that “some animals [are] faster than other animals.”

As the work piled up and criticism by her supervisor intensified, Brenda Patterson’s health began to deteriorate. Marshall Patterson watched his wife, whom he described as a pleasant, happy person, transformed into a nervous and depressed spouse who frequently burst into tears when she told him about her difficulties at work. “She felt humiliated, downgraded, because she didn’t feel that she was being treated as the other girls were treated,” Marshall recalled. Despite her difficulties, Brenda continued to work at McLean, hoping that conditions would change.

One Monday in July 1982, Brenda reported to work as usual. She received written notice during the day that she had been laid off, after ten years of service.

“Well, is this it? You’re just laid off like that?” Marshall asked when his wife came home.

“Yes,” she replied.

“Well, maybe they’ll call you back in a week or so,” Marshall said, reassuringly.

The callback never came.

In 1984, Brenda Patterson’s lawsuit was heard in federal district court in North Carolina, but her best hope for success was quickly dispelled by the trial judge, even before her case went to the jury. The judge rejected Patterson’s argument that her claim of racial harassment was covered by the 1866 civil rights law, ruling that such harassment on the job, even if proven, was not prohibited by the language of the statute. The judge, having thrown out Patterson’s racial harassment charge, instructed the jury that Patterson was required to show that she was better qualified than the white employee who was promoted to the job that Patterson believed she deserved. The jury then ruled against Patterson on both her promotion and discharge claims, and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit affirmed the lower court decision.

Harvey Kennedy, who had argued Patterson’s case in both the trial and appeals courts, turned the case over to attorney Penda Hair of the NAACP Legal Defense Fund,I who petitioned the Supreme Court to hear Patterson’s appeal. The justices granted the petition, and the case of Patterson v. McLean Credit Union was placed on the Court’s docket for the October 1987 term.II



On his fourth day as an associate justice of the Supreme Court of the United States, Anthony Kennedy (who had been nominated to the Court by President Reagan soon after Judge Robert Bork, Reagan’s first choice to replace Justice Lewis F. Powell, Jr., failed to be confirmed by the Senate) listened with his brethren to attorney Penda Hair present the first argument to the justices on behalf of Brenda Patterson. “Mr. Chief Justice, and may it please the Court,” Hair began at 10:57 A.M. on February 29, 1988. For the next twenty-seven minutes (she reserved three minutes for rebuttal), Hair attempted to persuade the justices that the McLean Credit Union had violated Brenda Patterson’s rights under the Civil Rights Act of 1866 by subjecting her to racial harassment during her ten years at the company, as well as passing over her for promotion because of her race in favor of a white employee and later discharging her.

Hair spent virtually her entire thirty minutes of oral argument attacking the notion that the 1866 civil rights statute’s contract provisions, which prohibited racial discrimination in the “making” of a contract, failed to cover the harassment that Brenda Patterson claimed in her lawsuit. “Under that rule of law,” Hair asserted, “a black worker can get a job but the black worker can be forced to pay a very high price for that job in loss of dignity. The employer can say to that worker, ‘We’ll hire you, but only if you submit to conditions of employment in which you are humiliated and demeaned because of your race.’ It is our position that that type of condition of employment is exactly the badge of inferiority that the Thirteenth Amendment and Section 1981 [the designation of the relevant provisions of the 1866 statute in the United States Code] were designed to prohibit.”

Hair continued, “It seems obvious that a black worker who is forced to pay the price of stigma and humiliation in order to be able to perform the contract that she has a right to enter into, has not been afforded the same right to make and enforce a contract. The black worker’s exercise of her right to make and enforce a contract has been burdened because of her race.”

Chief Justice Rehnquist was the first to interrupt Hair’s argument, questioning the attorney’s assertion that racial harassment on the job was covered by the statute. “Well, I don’t think that’s crystal clear, Ms. Hair,” said Rehnquist, “that the consequences like you’re talking about, bad as they may be, necessarily implicate the right to make or enforce a contract. That certainly isn’t an inclusive term.”

“I would submit,” Hair responded, “that the right to make and enforce a contract has to include the right to perform that contract free from racial discrimination. If the right to make and enforce a contract is going to have any meaning, it must include the right not to be burdened in the exercise of your right to make and enforce a contract free of racial discrimination.”

Again, Rehnquist challenged Hair. “Well, supposing, Ms. Hair,” he said, “that an employer hires a black person for $50,000 and the black person later comes in and says, well, if I’d been white, they would have paid me $55,000, so they violated 1981. Do you think if the black employee can prove that, that’s a cause of action under 1981?”

“Yes, I do,” Hair replied without hesitation. “It’s racial discrimination in pay.”

Later in her oral argument, Hair was closely questioned by Justices Scalia, White, O’Connor and Kennedy. Did the language in the 1866 statute—“to make and enforce contracts”—specifically cover Patterson’s situation? Instead of seeking redress in the federal courts, should Brenda Patterson have sued for breach of contract in the state courts of North Carolina? Or in federal court under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964?

Throughout the interrogation, Hair held to her argument that the racial harassment charged by Patterson was exactly the kind of conduct that the Reconstructionist Congress in 1866 intended to reach by its civil rights statute and, further, that her interpretation was consistent with modern Court decisions interpreting the legislative history and intention of the statute’s framers.

When it was his turn to speak to the justices, H. Lee Davis, Jr., attorney for the McLean Credit Union, argued that Brenda Patterson’s claims were unsubstantiated in fact but, in any case, could not succeed under the precise contract language of Section 1981. If Brenda Patterson had a legitimate grievance, Davis maintained, she should have sought redress under Title VII of the 1964 Civil Rights Act or, alternatively, under North Carolina contract law.

During Davis’s argument, Kennedy asked the question whose answer would prove crucial to his initial vote, at the justices’ conference, in support of Brenda Patterson’s claim—and to his later reversal. Assume, Kennedy told Davis, “that a contract is made in good faith and in non-discriminatory terms, but once its performance begins, highly onerous conditions are imposed. Are there no conditions that are so onerous that 1981 would not be implicated?” With his question, Kennedy suggested that racial harassment on the job might be so egregious and pervasive (as Patterson had claimed) that it effectively undercut the “making” of an employment contract, even if the employer had originally entered into the contract in good faith.

Davis responded to Kennedy’s question by arguing that the language of the statute barred any coverage of conditions, such as racial harassment on the job, that were separate and independent of the initial “making” of the contract.

Throughout his argument, the McLean Credit Union’s attorney concentrated on technical distinctions in the law which, finally, was too much for Thurgood Marshall. After Davis contended that no evidence had been submitted to the jury that proved his client had failed to promote Brenda Patterson because of her race, Marshall interrupted.

“Mr. Davis, you talk of no evidence,” said Marshall. “What about this flat statement [in the trial record] that negroes are just slower than everybody else? What do you do with that?”

“Justice Marshall,” Davis responded, “I dare say that there are few of us in the world who have not had a prejudiced thought or made a prejudiced comment, whether the prejudice may be racial, sexual or religious or some other basis.”

Marshall persisted. “What do you do?” he asked. “Just ignore it [the evidence]?”

“No, sir, I don’t think you ignore it,” Davis said. But the attorney noted that the statement that “negroes are just slower” was challenged by the defense at trial, and in any case, it was only a single piece of evidence.

“Well, you’ve taken 87 other pieces,” said Marshall. “I’m going to take one piece. And I still haven’t gotten an answer to it.”

Pressed on the point, Davis stuck to his position that there was not sufficient evidence, including the statement that Marshall had quoted, to conclude that McLean’s failure to promote Patterson was racially motivated.



As was his custom, the senior justice on the Court, William J. Brennan, Jr., asked no questions during oral argument. He would have much to say to his colleagues in the privacy of their conference room three days after the oral argument, when the justices argued and first voted in the case of Patterson v. McLean Credit Union. A memorandum of law, which had been prepared by a Brennan law clerk for the Patterson case, argued that the appellate court’s ruling against Brenda Patterson should be reversed. Support for that position, it was pointed out in the memorandum, came from the Court’s decision in Runyon v. McCrary, the 1976 Court decision that had held that Section 1981 prohibited racial discrimination by a private employer in making a contract, even though the plain language of the statute appeared to be directed exclusively against discriminatory state laws. The clerk’s memorandum emphasized that the Court in both Runyon and Jones v. Mayer, a 1968 Warren Court decision ruling that the 1866 law applied to racial discrimination in the sale of private property, had declared that the language of the post—Civil War statute should be construed broadly in light of the legislative history. Brennan had voted with the majority in Runyon and Jones and had long contended that historical documents revealed the post—Civil War Congress’s intention to cover private as well as public acts of racial discrimination.

The memorandum argued that Brenda Patterson was entitled to bring a legal action even if there was, in a strict technical sense, no direct interference with a contract right. So long as racially motivated conduct reduced the enjoyment of the contract relationship, and Patterson’s harassment charge certainly qualified, the memorandum concluded that she had a claim under Section 1981.

Chief Justice Rehnquist presided over the conference on March 2.III His views on what he considered the correct interpretation of the Civil Rights Act of 1866 were a matter of public record and well known to his colleagues before he entered the justices’ conference room to discuss Patterson. He had been an associate justice on the Court when Runyon v. McCrary was decided in 1976 and had joined the dissenting opinion, written by Justice White. Rehnquist believed that the statute applied only to the official actions of state governments. It was a narrow interpretation that in the modern day, when state governments rarely were found guilty of official racial discrimination, would have effectively rendered the statute meaningless. Rehnquist had shown no inclination to change his original Runyon position and, indeed, had told his colleagues in a conference discussion of a civil rights case during his first year as chief justice that he still believed that Runyon and the earlier Warren Court decision, Jones v. Mayer, which also applied the 1866 statute to private conduct, were wrongly decided.

Patterson presented the chief justice with his first realistic opportunity to reverse Runyon, since he now counted four other conservative members of the Court who might agree with him. At the judicial conference on March 2, 1988, in which the justices considered the Patterson case, Rehnquist began by discussing the facts and legal issues in Patterson. But then he raised the issue of whether Runyon should be overruled, even though the issue had not been briefed or argued by either counsel in the Patterson case. Having raised the issue on his own, Rehnquist reiterated his view that Runyon was wrong and Justice White’s dissent, which he had joined, was correct. The chief left no doubt where he stood; Justice Marshall, who took notes at the conference, recorded Rehnquist’s position as “overrule Runyon.”

At the Patterson conference, Justice White, who had dissented in both Runyon and the earlier Jones decision, reminded his colleagues that both decisions “still live.” He then discussed the issue that the chief justice had raised: should Runyon be overruled? Justice Marshall put “Etc… Etc… Etc… Etc.” next to the initials of Justice White. White voted to reconsider Runyon.

Since Brennan and Marshall had been members of the Court majorities in both Runyon and Jones, it was hardly surprising that they opposed reconsideration of either precedent. Indeed, Brennan had prepared for the Patterson conference on the assumption that Runyon and Jones were good law, and stood as important precedents in support of Brennan’s argument that Brenda Patterson had properly brought her claim of racial harassment under the 1866 statute.

Justice Harry Blackmun injected a personal note into the Patterson conference discussion. While a member of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit in the 1960s, Blackmun had written the appellate court’s decision in Jones v. Mayer, rejecting the argument that the Civil Rights Act of 1866 reached private acts of racial discrimination. The Supreme Court “reversed me,” Blackmun told his colleagues in the Patterson conference, “but I’m a good soldier.” He opposed reconsideration of either Jones or Runyon.

Justice John Paul Stevens strongly opposed reconsideration of Runyon, telling his colleagues at the Patterson conference that Section 1981 was applicable to the private discrimination charged in Patterson, as it had been held by the Court in Runyon v. McCrary. Stevens believed that it was institutionally important for the Court to honor a prior Court decision interpreting a congressional statute, particularly one that had not later been challenged by Congress. Stevens’s point was underscored by his own position when Runyon was decided in 1976. At that time, Stevens had expressed reservations about the Court majority’s interpretation of the 1866 act. But Stevens had noted then that Jones v. Mayer had been decided eight years earlier, and the Court’s interpretation of the post–Civil War statute in Jones “accords with the prevailing sense of justice today.” Since Congress, through legislation, could have sent a clear signal to the Court after Jones and Runyon that the justices had erred in their statutory interpretations—and had not done so—Stevens urged the Court not to tamper with the Jones or Runyon precedents.

At this point in the discussion, the chief justice could count only two votes, his own and Justice White’s, for reconsideration of Runyon (and Jones, which almost certainly would have followed Runyon’s reversal). But the three Reagan-appointed justices—O’Connor, Scalia and Kennedy—had not yet expressed their opinions.

When it was her turn to speak, O’Connor criticized both the Runyon and Jones decisions, suggesting that she might be prepared to overrule the civil rights precedents. After expressing her views, O’Connor voted with the chief justice to reconsider Runyon.

With characteristic verve and certainty, Justice Scalia enthusiastically joined the incipient movement to review the 1976 precedent. “Runyon looks like it ought to be reconsidered,” Scalia told his colleagues; he added that he thought the 1968 Jones decision should be reconsidered as well. Scalia’s critical views of Runyon and Jones, reflected in his comments and vote, were consistent with the views on statutory interpretation that he had expressed in his judicial opinions on the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia, and, later, on the Supreme Court. In his opinions, Scalia had advocated a narrow approach to statutory interpretation: the Court was obligated only to look at the actual language of a statute for its meaning, and should not engage in speculation about Congress’s purpose (which was frequently unclear). In Runyon and Jones, as the dissents had pointed out, the Court had looked beyond the text for the 1866 statute’s meaning.

That left the final vote for reargument in Patterson to the junior justice, Anthony Kennedy, who had served on the Court for only a week. Less assertive than Scalia, Kennedy nonetheless supported the conservatives’ initiative. That made five votes—a majority—for reargument and reconsideration of Runyon.

There was irony in the timing and result: this newly minted conservative majority, presumed philosophically bound to be especially solicitous of the institution’s link with past decisions, appeared at the first opportunity poised to uproot two of the most important civil rights precedents of the modern Supreme Court era. But the daring action, initiated by the chief justice, was characteristic of William Hubbs Rehnquist, who throughout his professional life had missed few opportunities to try to advance his own conservative goals.



“I’m going to change the government,” Bill Rehnquist told his Atwater Elementary School class during the Depression. The change the precocious young man had in mind did not include the social and economic experimentation of Franklin Roosevelt’s New Deal. In the household of his parents—William Benjamin Rehnquist, a wholesale paper salesman, and his wife, Margery, a college-educated linguist—the family’s heroes were Republicans Herbert Hoover, Alf Landon and Wendell Willkie.

“We learned early on how bad Roosevelt was,” recalled Jerry Oberembt, one of Rehnquist’s high school classmates and close friends. “Our parents would listen to FDR on the radio, gnash their teeth and then turn the dial to Father Coughlin” (the demagogic “radio priest” who commanded a vast radio audience during the Depression).

Bill Rehnquist grew up in a tan stucco house in the neatly manicured Milwaukee suburb of Shorewood and attended the all-white Shorewood High School. Tall and conspicuously uncoordinated in movement and dress, Rehnquist won acceptance among his peers with his relaxed affability and wry sense of humor. He quoted Winston Churchill, dazzled his classmates with feats of memory in world history class, and graduated eighth in his high school class without, it seemed to his friends, really trying.

After only a few months as a freshman at Kenyon College, a small liberal arts college in Ohio, Rehnquist joined the Army Air Corps and spent three years as a weather observer, ending his World War II tour of duty in North Africa. When he returned to the United States, he enrolled at Stanford University on the GI Bill and earned a Phi Beta Kappa key and both bachelor’s and master’s degrees in political science.

At Stanford, Rehnquist had already begun to draw the attention of his classmates with his uncompromising political conservatism. He was, by then, greatly influenced by Frederick Hayek’s The Road to Serfdom, described as “a classic warning against the dangers to freedom inherent in social planning.” As if to test his conservative resolve, Rehnquist plunged into the intellectual center of the liberal world, Harvard University. There he completed his studies for a second master’s degree in political science, despite being rankled by “Harvard liberalism.” Uncertain of his future career, Rehnquist registered for the law school aptitude test, scored in the ninety-ninth percentile, and headed, once again, for Stanford to study law.

On the balmy Palo Alto campus, political debate was muted, which may have been the reason that Rehnquist’s conservatism was so conspicuous. “Bill was so far out politically,” one law school classmate recalled, “that he was something of a joke.” Rehnquist graduated first in his class at law school and was invited by Supreme Court Justice Robert H. Jackson to be one of his law clerks.

He arrived in Washington in the winter of 1952 to be Justice Jackson’s clerk and picked up where he had left off at Stanford. “He could give you all the good conservative arguments on any issue,” said Donald Trautman, then a clerk to Justice Felix Frankfurter. “When you talked about the problem of the cities or the poor or blacks, it was clear he had no understanding,” Trautman recalled. “It was a universe he didn’t comprehend.”

Rehnquist’s memoranda to Justice Jackson discussing whether legal questions presented in petitions to the Court merited the justices’ review contained outspoken conservative views. He vigorously advocated a severely limited role for government in eliminating racial discrimination, for example, and his views were revealed in vivid detail. The tone and substance of Rehnquist’s memos to Justice Jackson were illustrated in Terry v. Adams, a case in which black residents of Fort Bend County, Texas, challenged a system that effectively prevented them from exercising their right to vote. For sixty-three years the all-white Jaybird Democratic Association of Fort Bend County had picked candidates for the official Democratic primary and, without exception, the Jaybirds’ candidates had been elected to county office. Since the black petitioners could not become members of the Jaybird Association, they argued that they were disenfranchised because of their race in violation of the Constitution’s Fifteenth Amendment.

“I have a hard time being detached about this case,” Rehnquist wrote Jackson, “because several of the Rodell school of thought [his reference was to liberal Professor Fred Rodell of the Yale Law School] among the clerks began screaming as soon as they saw this, ‘Now we can show those damn southerners,’ etc. I take a dim view of this pathological search for discrimination à la Walter White [then a leader of the NAACP], Black, Douglas, Rodell, etc., and as a result, I now have something of a mental block against the case.”

After the justices agreed to hear the case, Rehnquist again put forward very strong views (although two decades later, at the time of his Senate confirmation hearings for a seat on the Court, he suggested that he was merely paraphrasing Jackson’s own position). “It is about time the Court faced the fact that the white people in the south don’t like the colored people,” Rehnquist wrote. “The constitution restrains them from effecting this dislike through state action, but it most assuredly did not appoint the Court as a sociological watchdog to rear up every time private discrimination raises its admittedly ugly head. To the extent that this decision advances the frontier of state action and ‘social gain,’ it pushes back the frontier of freedom of association and majority rule.”

Justice Jackson did not adhere to the position laid out by his clerk. Instead, he voted with an 8-to-1 Court majority that declared that the all-white Jaybird preprimary was state action that violated the Fifteenth Amendment.

No member of the Senate Judiciary Committee was aware of the Rehnquist memoranda in Terry v. Adams when Rehnquist appeared before the committee in December 1971 as President Richard Nixon’s Supreme Court nominee. However, one Rehnquist memorandum, also written when he was a clerk to Justice Jackson, did come to the committee’s attention, and it seriously jeopardized his nomination. As in Terry v. Adams, the issue was racial discrimination. In anticipation of the challenge to public school segregation, Rehnquist had been asked to write a memo discussing whether Plessy v. Ferguson, the decision by the Supreme Court in 1896 that had established the constitutionality of the separate-but-equal doctrine, should be overruled.

Attacking the argument made by the NAACP Legal Defense Fund’s attorney, Thurgood Marshall, that Plessy was wrong and that the Fourteenth Amendment forbade racial segregation in the public schools, Rehnquist expounded on a philosophy that asserted that minority rights were only as secure as the majority wished them to be. “To the argument made by Marshall, Thurgood not John, that a majority may not deprive a minority of its constitutional right,” Rehnquist wrote, “the answer must be made that while this is sound in theory, in the long run it is the majority who will determine what the constitutional rights of the minority are. One hundred and fifty years of attempts on the part of this Court to protect minority rights of any kind—whether those of business, slaveholders or Jehovah’s Witnesses—have all met the same fate. One by one the cases establishing such rights have been sloughed off, and crept silently to rest. If the present Court is unable to profit by this example, it must be prepared to see its work fade in time, too, as embodying only the sentiments of a transient majority of nine men.” The memo concluded, “I realize that it is an unpopular and unhumanitarian position, for which I have been excoriated by ‘liberal’ colleagues, but I think Plessy v. Ferguson was right and should be re-affirmed.”

After Rehnquist’s Plessy memorandum was made public in 1971, the Court nominee sent a letter to the chairman of the Senate Judiciary Committee, James Eastland, denying that the memorandum expressed his views. “The particular memorandum in question differs sharply from the normal sort of clerk’s memorandum that was submitted to Justice Jackson during my tenure as a clerk,” Rehnquist wrote. “While he [Justice Jackson] did expect his clerks to make recommendations based on their memorandum as to whether certiorari [review] should be granted or denied, he very definitely did not either expect or welcome the incorporation by a clerk of his own philosophical view of how a case should be decided.” Rehnquist concluded that he prepared the memorandum for the justices’ conference as a statement of Justice Jackson’s tentative views, not his own.

In 1971 and again in 1986, after Rehnquist was nominated to be chief justice, Rehnquist’s 1971 statement to the Senate Judiciary Committee was discussed and greeted with great skepticism. Justice Jackson’s longtime secretary, Elsie Douglas, said, “Justice Jackson did not ask law clerks to express his [Jackson’s] views.” Professor Dennis Hutchinson of the University of Chicago Law School, who was writing a biography of Jackson, also challenged Rehnquist, declaring that Rehnquist’s contention that the memorandum on Plessy represented Jackson’s views was “absurd.” Justice Jackson always instructed his clerks to express their own views, not his, said Hutchinson.

The written record provides further reasons to question whether Rehnquist’s memoranda represented Jackson’s views, and not his own. In his unpublished memoranda on the case of Brown v. Board of Education of Topeka, Justice Jackson expressed doubts about the constitutional justification for overruling Plessy, but on moral and political grounds he was certain that Plessy was wrong. Furthermore, Jackson, in an unpublished twenty-three-page memorandum written two months before Chief Justice Warren announced the unanimous decision in Brown (and not available to the Senate Judiciary Committee in 1971), concluded that Plessy should be overruled because the changed conditions of blacks and public education demanded it.

When he was asked about Brown (which overruled Plessy) years later, Rehnquist said that he supported the decision but that there was “a perfectly reasonable argument the other way” based on the doctrine of stare decisis, the Latin term which means that the Court should respect precedent. Asked at his 1986 confirmation hearings how he would have voted in Brown, Rehnquist replied, “I thought the stare decisis argument in Plessy was a strong one.”

If the dispute over whose views were expressed in Rehnquist’s memoranda to Justice Jackson was never resolved, there was no such problem in identifying the source of the outspoken conservative views later expressed by Rehnquist as a young Phoenix attorney—views for which Rehnquist took full credit. Attracted by the warm weather and small-firm law practice, Bill Rehnquist had moved with his bride, Natalie, from Washington to Phoenix, Arizona, in 1953, where he joined one of the old-line Phoenix law firms that, with only nine lawyers, nevertheless ranked as one of the largest in the city. He also offered his services to the Goldwater wing of the newly invigorated Republican Party, helping to organize local elections and give free legal advice.

By 1957, with his law practice and family prospering (the Rehnquists raised three children in Arizona), Rehnquist initiated a bold political attack on what he considered the left-leaning Supreme Court. In a speech to the local bar association, he denounced the “left-wing” philosophers of the Warren Court (he mentioned by name Chief Justice Warren and Justices Black and Douglas) for “making the Constitution say what they wanted it to say.” That same year, he wrote an article published in U.S. News & World Report complaining that the justices were unduly influenced by liberal law clerks devoted to a political philosophy that he characterized as “extreme solicitude for the claims of Communists and other criminal defendants, expansion of federal power at the expense of state power, great sympathy toward any government regulation of business.”

On the issue of the government’s role in eliminating racial discrimination—the subject of Rehnquist’s controversial memoranda to Justice Jackson—Rehnquist took a position similar to that expressed in his Terry v. Adams memoranda. The government, according to Rehnquist, had an extremely limited obligation to eliminate racial discrimination, particularly when it intruded on personal preferences of private citizens. In 1964, for example, Rehnquist was one of three private citizens who spoke against a Phoenix public accommodations ordinance that prohibited racial discrimination in private restaurants opened to the public (thirty Phoenix residents spoke in favor of the ordinance). The ordinance passed unanimously, but Rehnquist, undaunted, wrote one of the Phoenix newspapers that the law was “a mistake.” The ordinance would not eliminate indignities to blacks, Rehnquist argued, but would leave the “unwanted customer and the disliked proprietor… glowering at one another across the lunch counter. It is, I believe, impossible to justify the sacrifice of even a portion of our historic individual freedom for a purpose such as this.”

After Rehnquist joined the Nixon Administration in 1969 as assistant attorney general, Office of Legal Counsel, he drafted a proposed constitutional amendment that would have had the effect of reversing many of the liberal decisions of the Supreme Court in the late 1960s that had promoted desegregation in the public schools. In a memo accompanying the proposal, Rehnquist wrote that the amendment would stop federal court intervention, even if local officials set up school attendance boundaries “with a motive or partial motive of separating the races in the schools.” The amendment, which was never publicly proposed, would also have prohibited busing as a tool to implement federal desegregation decrees.

When Rehnquist was nominated as associate justice of the Supreme Court in 1971, civil rights leaders denounced the nomination as “an insult to Americans who support civil rights.” Roy Wilkins, then the president of the NAACP, went further. Referring to Rehnquist’s informal charm and genuine friendliness, Wilkins said that the nominee “may accept you as a buddy, but his philosophy will kill you.”

For civil rights advocates, Wilkins’s bitter observation became prophesy. Associate Justice Rehnquist, more than any other member of the Court, voted against civil rights petitioners who came to the Court for relief. The NAACP Legal Defense and Educational Fund reported that in eighty-three cases in which members of the Court had disagreed on the application of a twentieth-century civil rights statute, Rehnquist had voted on eighty occasions for the application least favorable to racial minorities, women, the elderly and the disabled. In the same report, the NAACP noted that in fourteen racial discrimination cases brought on behalf of a black complainant between 1971 and 1986 that were decided against the plaintiff, 5 to 4, Rehnquist always cast his vote with the narrow majority. Rehnquist held tenaciously to his views even when his positions left him alone at the far right of the Court. Rehnquist filed the single dissent, for example, when the other eight members of the Court rejected a private segregated school’s claim that it should enjoy tax-exempt status.



After the justices’ conference on Patterson v. McLean Credit Union, Chief Justice Rehnquist assigned himself the task of drafting a brief opinion announcing the Court’s request for reargument in Patterson focusing on the issue of whether Runyon v. McCrary, the Court’s 1976 decision extending the 1866 civil rights statute to private contracts, should be overruled. Rehnquist attempted to present the request for reargument in Patterson as little more than routine, listing a series of decisions by the Court within the previous two decades in which the justices had asked for reargument of the merits of an existing precedent. The chief justice further noted that the Court had explicitly overruled precedents in a number of cases in which the Court had interpreted federal statutes. But the chief’s attempt to whistle casually through the controversy failed miserably.

The first reaction to the circulation of his draft erupted, naturally, in the privacy of the chambers of the Court’s dissenting justices. Harry Blackmun read the majority’s decision to reconsider Runyon as tantamount to the conservatives overruling Runyon.

For Blackmun, Rehnquist’s draft opinion was a formal declaration of war, and he launched a fierce counterattack. In his dissent, Blackmun asked aloud why the Court had reached out to decide an issue that was never touched on by the parties to the controversy either in their legal briefs or their oral arguments before the justices. This was not, Blackmun wrote, an instance of the Court revisiting “some neglected subtlety” or “overlooked jurisdictional detail.” Blackmun accused the majority of attempting to unravel the entire fabric of the modern Court’s interpretation of the 1866 Civil Rights Act. Such an action by the Court, Blackmun asserted, was “neither restrained, nor judicious, nor consistent with the accepted doctrine of stare decisis.”

In the final paragraph of Blackmun’s dissent, his finger-pointing criticism became personal. “I am at a loss to understand the motivation of five Members of this Court to reconsider an interpretation of a civil rights statute that so clearly reflects our society’s earnest commitment to ending racial discrimination, and in which Congress so evidently has acquiesced.”

Blackmun’s dissent was followed by an equally acerbic dissent from Justice Stevens (both dissents were joined by Justices Brennan and Marshall). For Stevens, the majority’s action sent a devastating signal to racial minorities that the new conservative Court majority felt free to rewrite any decision of the modern Court that had benefited civil rights litigants. The Court’s decision would, Stevens suggested, be perceived by the public as an exercise of pure political power by an institution that was assumed to decide cases on judicial grounds, with due respect for precedent. “If the Court decides to cast itself adrift from the constraints imposed by the adversary process and to fashion its own agenda, the consequences for the Nation—and for the future of this Court as an institution—will be even more serious than any temporary encouragement of previously rejected forms of racial discrimination,” Stevens concluded. “The Court has inflicted a serious—and unwise—wound upon itself today.”

The extraordinary accusatory bite of the dissenting opinions of Blackmun and Stevens angered Rehnquist, who, in his redraft of the unsigned majority opinion, responded to the dissenters with a huffy rebuttal. “One might think from the dissents of our colleagues that our decision to hear argument as to whether decision in Runyon v. McCrary should be reconsidered is a ‘first’ in the history of the Court,” the chief wrote. “One would also think from the language of the dissents that we have decided to overrule Runyon v. McCrary.” But to ask for reargument was “no affront” to settled jurisprudence, Rehnquist assured, and did not mean that the Court would necessarily overrule the precedent at issue.

If Blackmun’s and Stevens’s dissents raised the banner of civil rights progress, the chief justice would counter with the lofty principle of the Court’s obligation to treat all litigants fairly. “Both of the dissents intimate that the statutory question involved in Runyon v. McCrary should not be subject to the same principles of stare decisis as other decisions because it benefitted civil rights plaintiffs by expanding liability under the statute,” Rehnquist wrote in the last paragraph of the redrafted per curiam (a brief, unsigned Court opinion). The Court, Rehnquist reminded his brethren in dissent, could not be influenced in applying jurisdictional rules by “the worthiness of the litigant in terms of extralegal criteria [such as moral grounds].” The Court opinion concluded that “we think this is what Congress meant when it required each Justice or judge of the United States to swear to ‘administer justice without respect to persons, and do equal right to the poor and the rich.’ ”

The rumor making the rounds among clerks at the Court had it that the newest justice, Anthony Kennedy, had drafted the last paragraph of the reworked Court opinion. But in a private note to the chief, Justice Kennedy suggested that it was Rehnquist’s handiwork, though Kennedy, for one, was pleased with the result. In his note to Rehnquist (with copies to other members of the majority), Kennedy applauded the chief’s redraft. “I am in full agreement with your recirculated Per Curiam opinion,” Kennedy wrote Rehnquist. “I might add the dissents do not sit well with me, and are most disappointing.”



When the Court publicly announced its request for reargument, civil rights attorneys as well as larger segments of the bar and legal academic communities expressed their outrage. Picking up on the fervor and alarm of the dissenters, they denounced a new, radical conservative majority that seemed prepared to undo any liberal modern Court precedent that met with their disapproval. If Runyon was about to be leveled, could Jones be far behind? And once the conservatives gained momentum, the Court’s affirmative action decisions, such as Regents of University of California v. Bakke (which held that race could be taken into consideration in a state medical school’s admissions policies without violating the Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause), would be in danger as well.

Reams of newspaper and law-journal copy were devoted to possible explanations of the Court’s action in Patterson. Almost no one accepted the idea that this was ordinary Court business. The Court’s action was widely read as a bold warning that an activist conservative majority had prepared a civil rights agenda unlike that of any majority for the previous fifty years. Those civil rights groups still reveling in the defeat of President Reagan’s nomination of Judge Robert Bork to the Court stopped their celebration. This Court, with the more cautious Anthony Kennedy in residence, would make certain that liberals paid dearly for their Pyrrhic victory.

Briefs opposing the Court’s overruling of Runyon v. McCrary inundated the justices. One of the most notable was signed by seven of the nation’s most distinguished American historians, including Louis R. Harlan, Leon F. Litwack and C. Vann Woodward, all recipients of the Pulitzer Prize. Their brief unequivocally supported the Court’s interpretation of the 1866 Civil Rights Act that was expressed in Runyon—and strongly supported by Justice Brennan. A comprehensive study of Reconstruction history must necessarily conclude, they asserted, that the intention of the 1866 statute was to reach private, as well as state-imposed, racial discrimination.

In their effort to persuade the justices, the historians elaborated on the point that the NAACP Legal Defense Fund’s Penda Hair had made briefly in her oral argument in Patterson—that extensive documentation that preceded the passage of the Civil Rights Act of 1866 strongly suggested that the statute’s framers intended to reach private racial discrimination. When emancipated blacks attempted to enforce their private contractual rights or acquire property, the historians wrote, their so-called “rights” were more often than not imposed on white employers’ terms—and those terms included violence and torture as a means of contract negotiations. In Virginia, the historians’ brief noted, blacks were tied up by their thumbs if they refused to work for the price set by white landowners. In addition to physical violence, white landowners also extracted concessions by using a range of improper economic tactics, including price-fixing, lifetime contracts, exorbitant rent, and food charges equivalent to the freedmen’s wages.

The historians wrote that the man who drafted the Civil Rights Act of 1866, Senator Lyman Trumbull, made clear in his speeches on the Senate floor and in his private correspondence that the purpose of the 1866 statute was to extend the Thirteenth Amendment’s negative prohibitions of slavery to an affirmative guarantee of liberty to all Americans. “This measure,” Trumbull told his Senate colleagues, “is intended to give effect to that declaration [the Thirteenth Amendment] and secure to all persons within the United States practical freedom.”

The historians rejected Chief Justice Rehnquist’s position that the intention of the 1866 statute was to limit its application to official acts of racial discrimination by state governments. They cited Senator Trumbull’s private correspondence in 1866 in which he recognized that the primary need of southern blacks and whites loyal to the Union was the protection from violence and harassment of private individuals, not the removal of formal legal barriers of racial discrimination erected by state governments.

“In sum,” the historians wrote in their Patterson amicus brief, “the framers of the Act understood that they were enforcing broad constitutionally secured rights of all American citizens. They left no question that they intended to apply federal authority over civil rights to private individuals.” The brief concluded that the holding in Runyon v. McCrary was in accord with the framers’ intent, “and reconsideration by this Court of that holding is unwarranted and unwise.”

A second amicus brief, signed by 66 members of the U.S. Senate and 118 members of the U.S. House of Representatives, maintained that Section 1981, as interpreted in Runyon, “is an essential component of the statutory framework barring discrimination by private parties.” Reinforcing the point that Justice John Paul Stevens had made in the justices’ conference and in his dissent, the members of Congress assured the Court that the legislators had purposely not passed legislative amendments that would have undercut the Court’s interpretations of the 1866 Civil Rights Act in Jones and Runyon. On the contrary, Congress’s intention was to support those decisions.

The congressmen’s brief noted that in 1972, four years after Jones, Congress discussed and rejected proposed amendments to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 that would have eliminated recourse to Section 1981 in the area of employment discrimination. In 1976, Congress enacted the Civil Rights Attorney’s Fees Award Act, which extended to prevailing parties the right to recover attorney’s fees in actions brought under Section 1981, including actions brought for discrimination by private parties. Congress’s rejection of an amendment in 1972 and its passage of the 1976 statute, the legislators’ brief concluded, “give rise to a virtually conclusive presumption that the Congress has approved Runyon.”

And if the justices were concerned that the states disapproved of the Court’s interpretation of the 1866 statute in Runyon, a third amicus brief put that idea to rest. It was signed by forty-seven of the fifty state attorneys general and urged the Court to honor the Runyon precedent.

I. The organization is formally known as the NAACP Legal Defense and Educational Fund, Inc.

II. Each Court term officially begins on the first Monday in October and usually extends through the following June when the justices announce their final decisions of the term.

III. As chief justice, Rehnquist is entitled to preside at the justices’ conferences, present the facts and legal issues in each case and assign the majority opinion if he is a member of the majority. If the chief justice is in dissent, the senior justice in the majority assigns the majority opinion.






CHAPTER TWO “FIVE VOTES CAN DO ANYTHING AROUND HERE”


After the Rehnquist Court majority had raised the stakes in Patterson, the director-counsel of the NAACP Legal Defense Fund, Julius L. Chambers, was brought in to reargue the case on behalf of Brenda Patterson. The reargument, as the justices had requested, would focus primarily on whether the Court was justified in overruling Runyon. Chambers nonetheless considered it important to learn more about the factual background of the case from Brenda Patterson, and to link her experience (and legal charges) with the history and language of the post—Civil War statute.

In an interview with Patterson, Chambers asked his client to describe the McLean Credit Union’s work environment. It was a description Chambers said that he knew all too well: “Brenda had a college degree and had gone to work with this company hoping that she would be able to move up in this division of the company. But while there, the company continued to bring in younger whites with less education and, in fact, less experience and moved them up above Brenda. Brenda was relegated to a demeaning role as a minority employee. And in that sense, it’s part of a pattern that other blacks with experience and qualifications were experiencing, not just in the credit or banking industry but in practically every other area of employment.”

When Chambers addressed the Court on behalf of Brenda Patterson the morning of October 12, 1988, he was convinced that his client had been mistreated at the McLean Credit Union in a manner punishable under the 1866 statute. But he also knew that his primary task was considerably more complicated than simply arguing the justness of Patterson’s legal cause. He would first have to fend off the threat of the Rehnquist Court to overrule Runyon.

The amicus briefs had made the justices well aware of the wide range of opposition to their overruling Runyon. Chambers therefore needed no histrionics to make his major points. Congress by its actions in the 1970s had encouraged the use and enforcement of Section 1981 in cases of private racial discrimination, Chambers argued, and a Court decision overruling Runyon would not only flout Congress’s intentions but also abandon the Court’s venerated doctrine requiring respect for its precedents.

In his argument to the justices, Chambers compared the 1866 statute’s application to racial discrimination suffered by freedmen after the Civil War with application of the same statute to his client, Brenda Patterson. “And as we look at the legislative history [of the 1866 statute],” Chambers told the justices, “we see a Congress that saw blacks, freed blacks, harassed in the workplace, denied pay, and that’s the kind of conduct this Congress was trying to reach. We’re not working the farms now. We’re working in the credit union. So, the type of discrimination may differ, but the conduct—the discrimination, the enslavement, the badges of slavery are the things we are trying to reach. And that’s what Congress meant to reach in 1866…. We’re talking about a black person trying to work at a bank who was subjected to harassment and working in conditions that make it unbearable for a black to survive.”

Chambers’s adversary at oral argument, New York attorney Roger Kaplan, who had been hired by the McLean Credit Union to reargue its case, attempted to persuade the justices that the Court’s Runyon decision impeded the natural, orderly flow of civil rights legislation. Specifically, Kaplan argued that Congress had intended to attack private racial discrimination exclusively through the enforcement provisions of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. By permitting lawsuits charging private employment discrimination to be brought under the 1866 law, instead of Title VII, the Court, Kaplan contended, was interfering with Congress’s purpose.

But even Kaplan’s most sympathetic listener, Justice Antonin Scalia, quickly grew impatient with the argument.

“Why should we go back and change a decision that we’ve made?” asked Scalia. “What is special about this statute?”

“The problem is that it intrudes on the operation of Congress,” responded Kaplan. “That’s basically where the fundamental problem lies.”

“If that’s all you have, Mr. Kaplan,” said an exasperated Scalia, “I’m afraid it’s nothing, because that’s always the case when we interpret a statute incorrectly.”



In Brennan’s chambers before the second Patterson argument and justices’ conference, Brennan’s law clerk who had been assigned to write a memorandum of law in the case developed a cautious strategy for Brennan’s defense of Runyon. In his Patterson memorandum, the clerk did not emphasize the table-pounding argument that Runyon was correct on the merits. Instead, he advocated the more modest position that the Court majority in Runyon had presented a “plausible” interpretation that the 1866 statute reached private conduct. Such a “plausible” interpretation in Runyon, the memo argued, should not be disturbed—particularly since Congress, which had the authority to correct any erroneous statutory interpretation by the Court, had not acted (a point that had been made at length in the congressional amicus brief).
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